SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LAMAR BROOKS,	
Appellant, vs.	CASE NO.: 94,308
STATE OF FLORIDA,	
Appellee.	

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR OKALOOSA COUNTY, FLORIDA

AMENDED INTIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Kepler B. Funk, Esquire
Keith F. Szachacz, Esquire
FUNK & SZACHACZ, P.A.
One Harbor Place
1901 S. Harbor City Boulevard, Ste. 600
Melbourne, Florida 32901
407-953-0104
Florida Bar Nos. 957781 & 973866
Attorneys for Appellant

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Record on Appeal consists of seven volumes of record and twenty-six volumes of transcript. References to the record shall be made as "R"; and references to the transcript shall be made as "T".

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A grand jury indicted Appellant, Lamar Z. Brooks and Walker Davis, Jr. with identical charges in a single two-count indictment filed May 23, 1996 in Okaloosa County. Count I charged first degree murder of Rachel Carlson as Premeditated or Felony Murder With a Weapon. Count II charged first degree murder of Alexis Stuart as Premeditated or Felony Murder With a Weapon. (R1-3). At trial, Appellant was represented by Barry Beroset, Esquire.

The Honorable Jere Tolton, First Judicial Circuit, Escambia County, presided over proceedings for both defendant's, although trying each separately. Brooks was found guilty by a jury on April 10, 1998 of Counts I and II, (R 189-190; T 3006). A penalty phase convened before the same jury on April 16, 1998. On April 19, 1998, the jury returned a death recommendation as to Counts I and II by a vote of 10-2. (T 3236). On September 29, 1998, the Court sentenced Lamar Z. Brooks to death. (R 585-592). A timely notice of appeal was filed on October 28, 1998. (R 572). On November 16, 1998 this Court relinquished jurisdiction for 30 days in order to conduct hearing(s) on motion(s) for new trial. (R 992-993). Undersigned counsel became recognized as Attorney of Record by this Court on February 8, 1999.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. Guilt Phase.

Some facts are clear and undisputed. On or about April 24, 1996, Rachel Carlson and her child, Alexis Stuart, were found dead in a car in Crestview, Florida. Additionally, Walker Davis, Jr., in a separate trial, was convicted of the first degree murders of Rachel Carlson and Alexis Stuart. Walker Davis, Jr. was sentenced to life imprisonment. (R 589). The majority of facts are unclear in this record. With that caveat, the record reveals the following facts.

Irving Westbrook was the first witness to testify. He found the two victims dead in a running vehicle located on Booker Street located in Crestview, Florida. (T 911-913). He went across the street to call 911 but was not given permission to use the phone. (T 924-925). As a result, he went to a friends mother's house on School Avenue, a couple of blocks from the scene. (T 925). Charles Tucker

accompanied Mr. Westbrook and Mr. Westbrook phoned 911. (T 926). After phoning, Mr. Westbrook and Mr. Tucker walked back to the scene and told an officer there that Mr. Westbrook was the individual who had called 911. (T 927). Mr. Westbrook did not know what time this occurred. (T 927). Mr. Westbrook and Mr. Tucker were transported to the Crestview Police Department and filled out written statements. (T 928-929).

Ben Morgan was a Crestview police officer. He was the first law enforcement officer on the scene, arriving at 11:46 p.m. (T 977-979). Deputy Haffner, of the Okaloosa County Sheriffs Office, arrived on scene at the same time as Ben Morgan. (T 1074). Paula Freeman, Rachel Carlson's supervisor at Eglin Air Force Base, arrived on scene and identified the bodies. (T 1073-1074; 1097).

Jan Johnson was a senior lab analyst and blood stain pattern interpreter employed by the Florida Department of Law Enforcement. (T 1180-1181).

Analyst Johnson performed blood stain pattern analysis of the area surrounding Rachel Carlson's car as well as the car itself. (T 1196). Johnson collected all of the contents of the car and examined the entire interior and exterior of the car. (T 1196). Additionally, fingerprints were developed on the car and collected. (T 1197). Although this was conducted, there were no latent fingerprints preserved for comparison because none were suitable for comparison. (T 1203). Johnson told of theories of why no prints were suitable for comparison. (T 1203-1207). Trace material was collected from the fingernails of Rachel Carlson. (T 1221). A dark colored fiber was collected from a stab wound of Alexis Stuart. (T 1222). Johnson also examined Rochelle Jones' vehicle. (T 1240). Rochelle Jones picked up, in her vehicle, Davis and Brooks on the night of the homicides. (T 1799-1780). Jones' vehicle was transported to the Pensacola Operational Center for this examination. (T 1242). Analyst Johnson, after spending a couple of days searching

the Jones vehicle for evidence, found no trace evidence of blood. (T 1242). The examination included using Luminol and phenolphthalein which may detect blood after cleaning. (T 1243). Analyst Johnson took casts of footprints found at the crime scene because a search dog alerted to some prints down a down a dirt path. (T 1246-1247). Johnson performed visual and chemical testing on Mr. Brooks' pants. All tests were negative for blood. The pants were provided by Investigator Worley of the Crestview Police Department. (T 1248). Johnson observed blood spatter on the driver's windshield. (T 2211). Johnson believes that the first injuries to Rachel Carlson resulted in the windshield blood spatter. (T 2220). Johnson opined that Carlson was strapped in her seatbelt, seated in an upright position, when forceful injury occurred to her. (T 2214). Johnson, based on the low positioning of arterial spurting blood found on the passenger door panel, felt that Carlson then fell onto the front passenger seat after the initial forceful injury. (T 2214-2215). Johnson said someone may have been seated in the front passenger seat when the windshield blood spatter occurred. On the other hand, she said, someone could have been standing in the right front door when this occurred. Lastly, she felt someone could have been in the back seat when this spatter occurred. Analyst Johnson does not know which scenario is correct. (T 2223). Further, she cannot conclude that two people were sitting in the car at the same time that these blood spatter patterns occurred. (T 2223). Johnson cannot eliminate the scenario that one person in the front seat, killed Rachel Carlson, exited the vehicle, entered the back seat, and killed Alexis Stuart. (T 2224). Johnson detected no blood on the exterior of the vehicle or pavement around the vehicle. (T 2221).

Kenneth Fleming was a patrol sergeant with the Crestview Police Department. (T 2548). On April 24, 1996, Fleming directed officers to preserve the crime scene. (T 2548-2549). Officer Jenkins of the Game and Fish Control, brought a K-9 dog with him to the crime scene. (T 2549). The K-9 was a black

lab. (T 2549-2550). Lt. Worley directed Jenkins to search the area around Carlson's vehicle. (T 2550). Worley directed Fleming's attention to footprints/tracks at the scene of the homicides. (T 2550-2551). Worley asked Jenkins to have the K-9 track the prints and asked Fleming to stay with Jenkins. (T 2552). The dog was put on the track. (T 2552). The dog tracked west of the intersection where the vehicle was situated. He then proceeded southwest across an open field and upon reaching Martin Luther King Boulevard, turned west down Martin Luther King Boulevard. (T 2553). Upon reaching Lloyd Street, the dog turned northwest and south on Lloyd Street. (T 2553). He went back onto Martin Luther King Boulevard heading west. At the end of Martin Luther King Boulevard, the dog went west at the intersection of Garden and Grimes. The dog went west again and ended up at a residence located at 201 Grimes Street. (T 2553). No evidence exists that places Mr. Brooks on Grimes Street.

Dr. Joan Wood was the Chief Medical Examiner for the Sixth Judicial Circuit of Florida. (T 1263). She performed autopsies of the two victims in Portland, Oregon. Prior to her performing the autopsies, the two victims had been the subject of autopsies by Dr. Jody Nielson, associate medical examiner for Okaloosa County. (T 1267; 1271). Dr. Wood began the two autopsies at the Sunset Hills Funeral Home in Oregon on April 29, 1996. (T 1267; 1271). Dr. Wood stated that the autopsy of Alexis Stuart was difficult because the body had previously been autopsied. As a result, Dr. Wood had to unstitch wounds that were sutured closed with very heavy thread, like a butcher's twine. (T1271-1272). On the day Dr. Wood began her work, the family of the victim was to view the bodies at 2:00 p.m. As a result, Dr. Wood did not have enough time to complete everything. (T 1271). Dr. Wood could not examine part of the breastbone nor the front left rib because it was previously removed. The only internal organ present was the heart. (T 1273-1274). On May 1, 1996, Dr. Wood continued her

examination. (T1274). Prior to May 1, Dr. Wood could not interfere with the head, as the viewing was to occur. Dr. Wood had to clean off make-up, applied by the funeral home, in order to continue. After examining the face, Dr. Wood concluded her autopsy of the child. (T 1275). She concluded that Alexis Stuart died of a stab wound to the chest, injuring the heart. (T 1275-1276). Dr. Wood said that some wounds on Alexis Stuart were inflicted post-mortem. (T 1333). Further, she concluded that Alexis Stuart died within minutes after being stabbed in the heart and that she would have been rendered unconscious in less time than that. (T 1325).

After the funeral, Dr. Wood examined Rachel Carlson. Previously, Rachel Carlson had been sutured and embalmed. (T 1278- 1279). Dr. Wood could not learn anything about the stab wounds due to the changes that occurred as a result of the suturing. (T 1279). Dr. Wood did examine some knife wounds. Dr. Wood, because of the first autopsy and the embalming process, could not evaluate her right carotid artery. (T 1285). Rachel Carlson died of injury to the blood vessels of the right and left neck, although she did receive stab wounds with injury to the liver and lung. (T 1287). Dr. Wood concluded that Rachel Carlson was also choked. (T 1296). Dr. Wood concluded that Rachel Carlson had defensive stab wounds to her hands, was choked and was killed by stab wounds. She concluded that Rachel Carlson may have been unconscious at the time of the fatal stabbing because she did not die from strangulation nor can Dr. Wood state the order in which the events occurred. (T 1335-1337).

Steve Mantheny was a Met Life insurance salesman. On February 20, 1996, Walker Davis, Jr. applied for life insurance. (T 1438). Mantheny sold Walker Davis, Jr. a \$100,000.00 life insurance policy, which named Alexis Stuart as the insured and Walker Davis, Jr. as the primary beneficiary. (T 1436-1442).

Wayne Samms was a good friend of Walker Davis, Jr.'s. (T 2240). Approximately one month prior to the homicides, Walker Davis, Jr. and Mr. Samms had a conversation in Samms' vehicle. (T 2258). Samms was separated from his wife at the time of the conversation with Davis. (T 2258-2259). Samms told Davis that if Davis would have just paid Carlson \$150.00 per month, she would have left Davis alone. (T 2259). Samms stated that Davis said that "she and the baby was done." (T 2259). Davis continued to tell Samms that Carlson was "bugging" and "that her and the little dip were done." (T 2260). Samms told Davis that if he killed the baby or her that it would come back to him. (T 2260). Samms again suggested paying her to which Davis replied that he wasn't going to give her anything. (T 2261).

Billie Madero was a senior clerk for the Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services/Department of Revenue. (T 1450). A HRS document listed Rachel Carlson as the custodial parent of Alexis Stuart and Walker Davis, Jr. as the father of Alexis. (T 1450). Madero said that Carlson contacted the agency for a child support enforcement appointment.

David Johnston was a car salesman for Preston Hood Imports. In the first part of April of 1996, Johnston spoke with Walker Davis, Jr. about buying a Nissan Pathfinder. (T 1872-1873; 1878). The automobile Davis was interested in cost approximately \$32,000.00. (T 1873). Johnston said that Davis said that he would pay cash for the vehicle. (T 1875). Davis told Johnston that he was "coming into some money." (T 1877).

Anthony Sievers was a friend and co-worker of Walker Davis, Jr. (T 1880). Walker Davis, Jr., while riding with Mr. Sievers, stated that he was contemplating getting a car(s) and that there would be no payments. (T 1888).

Jason Hatcher was a surgical technician who worked with Rachel Carlson at Eglin Air Force Base. (T 1357-1359). He said that Ms. Carlson told him about her

plans for April 24, 1996. (T 1362-1363). He said that Ms. Carlson said that she and Walker Davis, Jr. were going to go to Crestview again to look for an aunt and two cousins. (T 1363-1364). Further, Ms. Carlson said that the baby was going to accompany Ms. Carlson and Walker Davis, Jr. (T 1366). Ms. Carlson, according to Mr. Hatcher, said that she wanted gas money from Walker Davis, Jr. and that he was going to have to sign paternity papers for child support indicating that Walker Davis, Jr. was the father of the child. (T 1366).

Linda Chaloupka was a hospital co-worker of Rachel Carlson's. (T 1377-1378). She said that Ms. Carlson told her about her plans for April 24, 1996. (T 1379-1380). Ms. Carlson told her that she had some sort of paternity papers for her infant daughters father to sign and that he agreed to do that and that Ms. Carlson was going to see him that evening. (T 1380).

Ame Boehmer was a surgical technician employed by the Air Force and stationed at Eglin. (T 1385). Ms. Boehmer said that Ms. Carlson said that she was going to drive to Crestview and to visit her boyfriends family. (T 1389). Further, Ms. Carlson said that Walker Davis, Jr. owed her money and that Ms. Carlson was trying to get money from him. (T 1389).

Lisa Lauer was an operating room technician and co-worker of Rachel Carlson. She said that Ms. Carlson said that, on April 24, 1996, she was going to pick up her baby and Walker and go to Crestview to visit Davis' aunt. (T 1390-1394).

Alicia Williams was a surgical technician employed by the Air Force and stationed at Eglin. (T 1408). She said that Ms. Carlson said that she was going to take the baby to Crestview to meet her fathers aunt and cousins. (T 1412-1413). Ms. Williams said that Ms. Carlson said that Ms. Carlson, the baby and Walker Davis, Jr. were going to make the trip. (T 1413).

Antonio Orr was a friend and co-worker of Walker Davis, Jr. On Monday afternoon, April 22, 1996, he appeared at Davis' residence. Orr heard Walker Davis, Jr. and Rachel Carlson speaking in an agitated manner. (T 1478-1483).

Mark Gilliam was an Army buddy of Lamar Brooks. (T 1620). As a result of an agreement between he and the Office of the State Attorney, he testified. (T 1702). Mark Gilliam traveled to Walker Davis, Jr.'s residence from Atlanta on Sunday, April 21, 1996. (T 1629). On that same evening, Gilliam, Davis, Lamar Brooks and Wayne Samms, traveling in two vehicles, drove to Crestview. (T 1630). In Crestview, they went to a bar, purchased beer and hung out in a parking lot. (T 1631-1632). The four listened to music, talked and reminisced. (T 1633). Mark Gilliam and Lamar Brooks returned to Walker Davis, Jr.'s residence Sunday night. (T 1634-1635). On Monday, April 22, 1996, at Walker Davis, Jr.'s residence, Davis complained about a woman who pestered him for money for a stereo. He said that he "should choke that broad." (T 1638-1639; 1641). After Davis said he should choke that broad, Brooks said you should shoot her and Gilliam said, "Nah, that would be too messy, you should stab her." Gilliam and Brooks were joking and did not take this seriously. (T 1639). The woman was never identified by name, race or relationship to Davis. (T 1639-1640). On Tuesday night, April 23, 1996, Gilliam, Davis and Brooks drank liquor and watched movies, including "Let's Do It Again" a comedy starring Bill Cosby and Sidney Poitier. (T 1644; 1692). Davis stated that she should be killed in Crestview and that Gilliam would drive. (T 1646). Also, Gilliam was to receive \$500.00 for driving. (T 1647). Lamar Brooks agreed that Gilliam should receive \$500.00. (T 1647). Brooks was supposed to receive \$4-8 thousand for his help. (T 1647-1648). Gilliam did not take it seriously and thought it was a long, played out joke. (T 1654). Lamar Brooks and Mark Gilliam were laughing during Walker Davis, Jr.'s complaining about the woman who was pestering him. (T 1692-1693). Due to the

tone and manner of the conversation, Gilliam did not take it seriously. At trial, Gilliam said that Lamar Brooks tried on latex gloves during this time frame. (T 1650). On the same night, Tuesday, Gilliam told Davis he was leaving for Georgia. Lamar Brooks did not attempt to talk Gilliam out of leaving. (T 1659-1660). The atmosphere surrounding the nights of April 22 and 23, 1996 between Gilliam, Davis and Brooks was comfortable, joking, laughing, listening to music, reminiscing and watching movies. (T 1697). Mark Gilliam never expected to receive \$500.00. (T 1698). On April 22 and April 23, Lamar Brooks never agreed to kill anybody. (T 1698). James Worley of the Crestview Police Department, among others, questioned Mark Gilliam on May 14, 1996. (T 1662; 1688). Law enforcement personnel told Gilliam that they believed Gilliam was involved in a conspiracy to commit murder. In response to law enforcement questioning about Gilliam driving a car, Gilliam lied. (T 1689-1690). Gilliam lied, not because he was involved in any murder, but because he was scared. (T 1690). Gilliam was questioned for six hours, without food, before he admitted the joking conversations he had had with Davis and Lamar Brooks. (T 1668; 1690). Gilliam emphasized to law enforcement that he thought it was all a joke. (T 1692). Further, Gilliam said they were all drinking. (T 1692). On May 15, 1996, Gilliam recanted portions of his statement to law enforcement. He recanted because he gave untrue answers thinking law enforcement "wanted to hear those answers." (T 1701). Gilliam was concerned that he was going to be charged. (T 1701). Mark Gilliam received a guarantee of not being prosecuted in any form arising out of the homicides. Further, if arrested, the State of Florida would dismiss any charges against Gilliam involving the homicides. (T 1702-1703).

Howard Bettis was a special agent with the Florida Department of Law Enforcement. (T 2318). On April 26, 1996, Mr. Bettis and Mr. Hollinhead conducted an interview with Lamar Brooks. (T 2319-2320). Brooks said that he

thought Davis was happily married. (T 2321). After being shown a photo of Ms. Carlson, Brooks said that he recognized her as one who came to Davis' residence on April 22, 1996 looking for Davis. (T 2322). Brooks told Bettis and Hollinhead that Mark Gilliam had left Ft. Walton Beach on the Tuesday prior to the Wednesday murders. (T 2324). Brooks said that Davis worked on Monday and after work, he and Davis and a friend of Davis' went to Crestview. (T 2325). Brooks said that they tried to, unsuccessfully, purchase marijuana that Monday evening. (T 2325). Brooks said that on Tuesday, April 23, 1996, he and Davis watched movies. (T 2326). On Wednesday, April 24, 1996, Brooks said that in the late afternoon, he helped Davis and a co-worker set up a waterbed at Davis' residence. (T 2327). Brooks said later in the evening, after dark, he and Davis walked Davis' dog and Davis made a phone call from a pay phone. (T 2327). Brooks said that the Monday meeting was the only time he came in contact with Rachel Carlson. (T 2329). Brooks said that he learned about the homicides at around 9:30-10:30 on Thursday, April 25, 1996. (T 2329). In Bettis' report, Brooks stated that after being taken to the Air Force Office of Special Investigations, he asked Davis why they were involved. Davis told Brooks that he was implicated and one of the victims was Davis' child. (T 2334). Brooks stated that he had no relatives in Crestview and believed that Davis did not have relatives in Crestview. (T 2331).

Michael Hollinhead was an investigator with the State Attorneys Office for the 1st Judicial Circuit. (T 1014). Hollinhead interviewed Lamar Brooks about his activities prior to the homicides. (T 1020). Brooks told Hollinhead that he came to the Crestview area from Atlanta on Sunday and that he stayed on Eglin Air Force Base with his cousin, Walker Davis, Jr. (T 1020). Brooks told Hollinhead that he did not know Rachel Carlson but that he saw her Monday evening. Brooks did not know nor did he discuss Rachel Carlson's pregnancy with Walker Davis, Jr. (T

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