IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LAMAR BROOKS,

Appellant,

CASE NO. 94,308

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR OKALOOSA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA J. YATES
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLORIDA BAR NO. 293237

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 Ext. 4584

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

The trial court made the following findings regarding the mitigating evidence:

B. MITIGATING FACTORS

STATUTORY <u>MITIGATING</u> <u>FACTORS</u>

1. The Defendant has no prior significant criminal history.

The State presented evidence during the penalty phase that the Defendant has been previously convicted of: 1) Driving Under the Influence (Texas 1992), and 2) Disorderly Conduct (Texas 1994). The State argues that these two convictions coupled with the non-judicial punishment he received by the U.S. Army for his participation in stolen telephone services, the admitted drug use by the defendant, and the State's contention that the

Defendant perjured himself during testimony in the penalty phase should be considered by this Court as prior criminal history that is significant.

This Defendant has never been convicted of a felony. While this court does not consider the Defendant's prior behavior to be "law abiding", it does not consider the prior criminal history of the Defendant to be significant. Therefore, the Court recognizes the existence of this mitigating factor.

This mitigating factor was given very little weight.

2. The age of the Defendant at the time of the offense.

The Defendant was twenty-three (23) years of age at the time of the offense, a mature young adult with lifetime experience, including military combat overseas.

This mitigating factor was given very little weight.

3. The Defendant was an accomplice in the capital felony committed by another person, and his participation was relatively minor.

The Defendant stated to his cell mate, Terrance Goodman, that he road [sic] in the backseat of Rachel Carlson's car the night of the murders and that he was the one who "killed the broad" and "copped the bodies." Lamar Brooks never stated that Walker Davis, Jr., his co-defendant, murdered the victims. He further bragged to Terrance Goodman that it took "heart" to stab someone. The medical examiner and the Bloodstain pattern expert both testified that the backseat passenger was the one in position to carry out all the stab wounds to both victims. Based on the totality of the guilt phase testimony, the Court concludes that Lamar Brooks was the backseat passenger in Rachel Carlson's car and was, in fact, the one who committed the murders of both Rachel Carlson and Alexis Stuart.

For the reasons stated above the court rejects the existence of this statutory mitigating circumstance.

NON-STATUTORY MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES

The Court asked the Defendant to prepare a memorandum suggesting all non-statutory mitigation he believed had been presented to either the jury or the Court at the separate sentencing hearing. A memorandum was prepared. Each suggestion of non-statutory mitigation circumstances presented in either the memorandum or during the sentencing hearing will be addressed using the terminology of the Defendant.

1. The co-defendant, Walker Davis, Jr. was sentenced to life imprisonment and did not receive the death penalty should be considered a non-statutory mitigating factor.

In analyzing the life sentence imposed on Walker Davis, Jr., it is important to acknowledge that although Walker Davis, Jr. participated in the planning and to some extent in the murder of the two victims, the evidence showed that Davis was the front seat passenger of the vehicle and did not deliver the fatal blows to either of the victims. However, Lamar Brooks stated to Terrance Goodman that on the night of the murders he was the backseat passenger of Rachel Carlson's This admission coupled with testimony of the medical examiner and the bloodstain pattern expert establishes that Lamar Brooks was the occupant of the car who carried out the plan to murder both of the victims.

This Court is satisfied from the totality of the evidence that Lamar Brooks not only participated in the planning of the murders of the two victims, but actually carried out the plan by fatally stabbing each of the victims. Therefore, Lamar Brooks is more culpable than

Walker Davis, Jr. in the murders of Rachel Carlson and Alexis Stuart.

The Court gives this non-statutory mitigating circumstance little weight.

2. The defendant has a strong family background and personal relationship of love and mutual respect with family members as well as participation in community affairs, church, choir, little league, and is the recipient of awards.

This Court does find that this Defendant had a very loving relationship with his family, participated in community affairs, attended church and choir, played little league, and was the recipient of awards as a This defendant was afforded every opportunity to become a respectable citizen. His extended family includes member of the military, a judge, a state trooper, police officers, and other gainful occupations. defense read several letters to this Court from these family members expressing love and affection for Lamar Z. Brooks. The defendant voluntarily elected to reject the values that had been taught to him by his loving family. He cannot point to a deprived childhood to explain his actions.

While the Court is convinced that this mitigating circumstance does exist, in light of the fact that the Defendant rejected the opportunities open to him by the virtue of the relationship he had with his family, it is given very little weight.

3. The Defendant is the only living son in his family due to the tragic death of his brother during the Defendant's incarceration.

This mitigating circumstance is given some weight.

4. The Defendant served honorably in the military during his first tour and received an honorable discharge.

A good military record can be a valid mitigating factor. The defendant served one full term and a portion of another in the U.S. Army and was given a General Discharge Under Honorable Conditions. While his first term was not marred by unsatisfactory conduct and included a tour in Desert Storm, defendant's second term was unsatisfactory, which is evidenced by the numerous infractions of law and discipline noted in his U.S. Army records. The discipline reports include incidences of direct disobedience and disrespect to commanding officers, failure to appear at duty post, drunkenness on duty, and theft.

If a General Discharge Under Honorable Conditions, standing alone, is considered mitigating, in light of the unsatisfactory conduct of the defendant's second term, it is entitled to little weight.

5. Family members, friends, relatives, and community members have attested to his good character and warm and loving relationships with family and friends.

The existence of living relationships is a mitigating factor. The defendant has an extended family who have attested through letters to this Court of the warm and loving relationships he has established with both family and friends. However, contrary to the relationship and loving he established with family and friends, Lamar along with his co-defendant Brooks, cousin, Walker Davis, Jr., planned the murders of a mother and her infant child. If Lamar Brooks had the capacity to establish warm and loving relationships, then he rejected these values in order to commit murder for money.

Accordingly, the Court gives this mitigating circumstance little weight.

6. The defendant's good jail conduct indicates that he could live in prison without problems.

This Court recognizes that good jail conduct can be a mitigating circumstance. Testimony was presented to this Court that the Defendant has been a good prisoner while being incarcerated and pending trial at the Okaloosa County Jail and has had a calming affect on other inmates.

This mitigating circumstance is given some weight.

7. Life without parole is sufficient to punish the Defendant.

The Defendant is a young man and would be incarcerated for a longer period of time than someone who was older might have to serve.

This mitigating circumstance is given some weight.

8. The Defendant conducted himself very appropriately through all proceedings and through the trial.

The Defendant was not a problem for either the court, his lawyer, or the bailiffs during his trial. He never committed any outbursts during any proceedings in this Court and has conducted himself appropriately.

The fact that he created no problems for any one during his trial is mitigating and will be given some weight.

9. The Defendant has maintained his innocence.

Lingering or residual doubt in not a mitigating factor in the State of Florida, King v. State, 514 So.2d 354 (Fla. 1987). Lest anyone misconstrue this last statement to think this Court has such a doubt, let me make it clear that I do not. The jury had no reasonable doubt about Defendant's guilt. This Court has no doubt of Defendant's guilt. Lamar Z. Brooks has been tried, convicted, and is soon to be sentenced for his acts.

The fact that the Defendant still protests his innocence is irrelevant to this procedure. It is neither aggravating nor mitigating.

(III 414-17). The record supports these findings.

Brooks argues that the court erred in relying on Goodman's testimony to find that the statutory mitigator of being an accomplice had not been established. As the trial court found, however, Goodman testified that Brooks said that he "copped the bodies" and "offed the broad" (XVIII 2099) and that Brooks said he was in the backseat. (XVIII 2100). Thus, the record supports the court's conclusion that the evidence did not support Brooks' claim that he was merely an accomplice in these murders, and the court properly found this mitigator did not exist.

Brooks also complains about the court's findings regarding the no significant criminal history and age mitigators. The court found that both mitigators had been established, but gave them very little weight. Therefore, Brooks' complaint is, essentially that the court did not give enough weight to these mitigators. As stated earlier, the weight to be given is within the trial court's discretion. Brooks has shown no abuse of discretion in the weight given these mitigators. <u>E.g.</u>. <u>Burns v. State</u>, 699 So.2d 646, 650 (Fla. 1997) (weight given the no significant criminal history mitigator can be reduced based on prior criminal activities), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 118 S.Ct. 1063 (1998); <u>Echols v. State</u>, 484 So.2d 568, 575 (Fla. 1985) ("if [age] is to be accorded any significant weight, it

must be linked with some other characteristic of the defendant or the crime such as immaturity or senility").

Brooks' complaint that the court improperly found the non-statutory mitigators to be relatively insignificant is also, essentially, a complaint about the weight given to them. The court considered and found established all of the non-statutory mitigators that Brooks proposed in his sentencing memorandum, except for the profession of innocence. (II 230-31). As was its prerogative, the court gave these mitigators from "very little" to "little" to "some" weight. Brooks has shown no abuse of discretion in the weight assigned by the trial court. Shellito v. State, 701 So.2d 837 (Fla. 1997), cert. denied, 118 S.Ct. 1537 (1998); Banks; Mungin v. State, 689 So.2d 1026 (Fla. 1995); Williamson v. State, 681 So.2d 688 (Fla. 1996).

Even if this Court were to find that the trial court erred in considering the mitigating evidence, any error would be harmless in light of the aggravators in this case. See Lawrence v. State, 691 So.2d 1068 (Fla.), cert. denied, 118 S.Ct. 205 (1997). Brooks has failed to demonstrate any error, however, let alone reversible error, and the trial court's findings on the mitigating evidence should be affirmed.

POINT 14

WHETHER VICTIM IMPACT EVIDENCE WAS PROPERLY ADMITTED.

Brooks claims that the trial court erred in allowing Rachel Carlson's parents to testify about her and the effect her death had on her family. There is no merit to this claim.

Defense counsel filed a pretrial motion asking that any victim impact evidence be presented to the court alone. (I 131). The court denied that motion. (II 249). At the beginning of the penalty phase defense counsel objected to the introduction of any victim impact evidence (XXIV 3020), and the prosecutor explained what victim impact evidence he planned to introduce. (XXIV 3023). Thereafter, Michael and Clarissa Stuart, Carlson's stepfather and mother, testified about their daughter. (XXIV 3052-70).

In discussing the admissibility of victim impact evidence, this Court stated:

Clearly, the boundaries of relevance under the statute include evidence concerning the impact to family members. Family members are unique to each other by reason of the relationship and the role each has in the family. A loss to the family is a loss to both the community of the family and to the larger community outside the family.

Bonifay v. State, 680 So.2d 413, 419-20 (Fla. 1996). The testimony that Brooks complains about was only that which this Court has found permissible. Cole v. State, 701 So.2d 845 (Fla. 1997), cert. denied, 118 S.Ct. 1370 (1998); Moore v. State, 701 So.2d 545 (Fla. 1997), cert. denied, 118 S.Ct. 1536 (1998); Burns v. State, 699 So.2d 646 (Fla. 1997), cert. denied, 118 S.Ct. 1063 (1998);

<u>Bonifay</u>. There is no merit to Brooks' claim that this testimony violated his constitutional rights. <u>Burns</u>.

The trial court did not err in allowing Carlson's parents to testify and this claim should be denied.

POINT 15

WHETHER BROOKS' DEATH SENTENCES ARE PROPORTIONATE.

Brooks argues that his death sentences are disproportionate in view of Davis' life sentence; that Emmund v. Florida, 458 U.S. 782 (1982), prohibits a death sentence for one who does not kill, attempt to kill, or intend that a killing take place; and that the death penalty is unconstitutional because it is arbitrary, based on a dissenting opinion in Callins v. Collins, 510 U.S. 1141 (1994), and because of inordinate delays inherent in the system. These claims are procedurally barred and/or without merit.

The constitutional complaints are procedurally barred because they were not raised in the trial court. <u>Cf. Richardson v. State</u>, 706 So.2d 1349 (Fla. 1998) (complaints about the constitutionality of the death penalty statute must be raised at trial to be cognizable on appeal); <u>Hunter v. State</u>, 660 So.2d 244 (Fla. 1995), <u>cert. denied</u>, 516 U.S. 1128 (1996). Moreover, a dissenting opinion is not precedent that this Court must follow, and Brooks has presented no reason for this Court to follow the dissent in <u>Callins</u> voluntarily. Contrary to Brooks' contention, the fact that long

delays may occur between imposition of a death sentence and execution of that sentence does not render the death penalty unconstitutional. This Court rejected this exact issue in Knight v. State, 721 So.2d 287 (Fla. 1998), cert. denied, 120 S.Ct. 459 (1999), addressing the issue as follows:

Knight claims that to execute him after he has already endured more than two decades on death row is unconstitutionally cruel and unusual punishment. He also argues that Florida has forfeited its right to execute Knight under binding norms of international law. Although Knight makes an interesting argument, we find it lacks merit. As the State points out, no federal or state courts have accepted Knight's argument that a prolonged stay on death row constitutes cruel and unusual punishment, especially where both parties responsibility for the long delay. See, e.g., White v. Johnson, 79 F.3d 432 (5th Cir. 1996); State v. Smith, 280 Mont. 158, 931 P.2d 1272 (Mont. 1996). We also note that the Arizona Supreme Court recently rejected this precise claim. See State v. Schackart, 190 Ariz. 238, 947 P.2d 315, 336 (Ariz.1997) (finding "no evidence that Arizona has set up a scheme prolonging incarceration in order to torture inmates prior to their execution"), cert. denied, - U.S. -, 119 S.Ct. 149, - L.Ed.2d -(1998)...We similarly reject Knight's claim under international law.

Id. at 300; Elledge v. State, 706 So.2d 1340, 1342 n4, 1347 n10 (Fla. 1997) (finding no merit to Elledge's claim that death should not be a possible sentence based on unconstitutional delay), cert. denied, 119 S.Ct. 366 (1998).

As shown throughout this brief, the record contains competent substantial evidence that Brooks killed the victims by stabbing them to death. Enmund, therefore, is not applicable to this case.

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